FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/1/2019 2:34 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97139-1

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 76873-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

JOSHUA McINTYRE,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable George F. Appel, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANA M. NELSON
Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Joshua McIntyre asks this Court to review the decision of the court of appeals referred to in section B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the court of appeals decision in State v. McIntyre, COA No. 76873-5-I, filed February 11, 2019, and the denial of the motion to reconsider, filed April 1, 2019, attached as appendices to this petition.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the court's denial of petitioner's requests to continue sentencing deprived him of his due process right to present relevant evidence in favor of his request for a special sex offender sentencing alternative (SSOSA)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 29, 2015, the Snohomish county prosecutor charged 26-year-old Joshua McIntyre with third degree rape of a child involving L.S., who was nearly 16 years old at the time of the charged offense. CP 310-17. McIntyre and L.S. had a relationship over the course of seven months, after meeting on a social media texting application. CP 314.

McIntyre was released in December 2015 pending trial and committed a new offense involving nearly 13-year-old B.G. between

September and October 2016. CP 295. The two met on a texting application in late August or early September and texted nearly every day before eventually meeting. CP 56, 137; see also RP 40. At least one available text message demonstrated it was B.G. who first contacted McIntyre, represented she was 22 years old and sent him a picture of herself. Id.

McIntyre stipulated to a bench trial on agreed documentary evidence and was found guilty. CP 269-88; RP 8. As part of the stipulation, McIntyre admitted he committed the charged crimes and indicated he entered into the stipulation in order to “accept the state’s offer and obtain a sexual deviancy evaluation and seek sentencing under the special sex offender sentencing alternative (SSOSA).” CP 276.

The stipulation indicated the standard range for count one was 31-41 months; the range for count two was 120-158 months. CP 270. McIntyre had one prior conviction for vehicular assault in 2013;¹ the date of the offense was September 3, 2010. CP 288. Thus, while McIntyre was not eligible for a SSOSA on count one, he was eligible on count two, because it occurred after five years from when the prior offense was committed. RCW 9.94A.670.

¹ McIntyre suffered traumatic brain injury as a result of the accident leading to the conviction. CP 154.

McIntyre underwent a SSOSA evaluation with Dr. Michael O'Connell, including interviews with O'Connell between 1/19/17 and 3/2/17. CP 139. At the first interview, "Joshua denied any sexual contact with either of these girls, although he did acknowledge 'some touching and a little bit of kissing at the motel' with the 12-year-old girl[.]" CP 148.

However, at a later interview, McIntyre admitted:

[A]fter talking about his car accident has led him to, "fight with myself . . . Things I do I don't want to . . . choosing wisely . . . my brain is always going . . . There are some things I have not been honest with you about . . . These girls . . . I did have sex with both of them . . . just like they both said.

CP 149.

Following the initial intake wherein McIntyre denied sexual contact, O'Connell contacted defense counsel Peter Mazzone and suggested he have a "Dutch uncle" talk with McIntyre. CP 161. At sentencing, Mazzone explained that initially, McIntyre mistakenly believed he had to deny everything to qualify for the SSOSA. Once Mazzone told McIntyre he needed to be completely honest about his sexual history, McIntyre was happy to comply. RP 68. Indeed, McIntyre passed his sexual history polygraph with no deception detected at the rescheduled interview. CP 150.

Sentencing initially was scheduled for March 24. RP 8. On March 22, Peter Mazzone – who had just taken over as defense counsel after McIntyre’s prior attorney abruptly left the firm – moved to continue the upcoming hearing as the SSOSA evaluation was not yet complete and Mazzone had a scheduling conflict. RP 18. At the hearing on March 24, Braden Pence stood in for Mazzone and asked the court to continue sentencing to April 28, so that both Mazzone and Dr. O’Connell could be present in case the court had questions about the SSOSA request. RP 18. Mazzone was available April 21, but Dr. O’Connell was not available until the 28th. RP 18, 26.

The court granted the motion to continue but only until the 21st, reasoning that it could just read the Dr.’s report:

I’m not going to continue it out to the 28th because it’s not necessary to hear from a doctor. Doctors generally know what needs to go into a report, and I can read the report, and I will.

RP 30. The court remanded McIntyre into custody and set no bail. RP 30.

At the hearing on April 21, 2017, the state conceded McIntyre’s relationship with B.G. was such that he legally qualified for a SSOSA on count 2. RP 42-43. The court agreed McIntyre qualified. RP 44. The defense recommended a term of 36 months on count one and 12 months on count two, to be served concurrently, followed by a three-year

treatment regimen pursuant to SSOSA and a lifetime of DOC supervision upon his release. CP 58.

Mazzone argued a SSOSA was appropriate, because McIntyre genuinely wanted treatment, as evidenced by his complete honesty during the SSOSA polygraph examination. RP 56-57. Moreover, as everyone seemed to notice – Mazzone, McIntyre’s parents, the PSI writer and Dr. O’Connell – the circumstances called out for treatment as McIntyre had suffered a traumatic and so-far untreated brain injury. RP 58. As O’Connell opined, there was likely still time to address it. RP 58.

And if the court were to grant the SSOSA, Mazzone represented that the defense would obtain the assistance of someone in addition to O’Connell, such as Dr. Richard Packer, who has expertise in treatment of sex offenders with neurological issues. RP 58.

The court asked about amenability. RP 65. The court did not see where Dr. O’Connell actually wrote that McIntyre is amenable to treatment. To the court, it seemed like the doctor opined he *might* be amenable. RP 66.

Mazzone pointed to the end of Dr. O’Connell’s evaluation where he concluded he would be willing to treat McIntyre, transfer him to someone such as Dr. Packer, or at least work adjunctively with a doctor,

like Packer, with neurological expertise. RP 69. As Mazzone interpreted the doctor's conclusion, a finding of amenability was implicit. RP 70.

Still unsatisfied, the court inquired: "If Dr. O'Connell did, indeed, believe your client was amenable to treatment, why wouldn't he just say so?" RP 70. Mazzone offered that: O'Connell wouldn't offer to treat someone who is not amenable; *that he (Mazzone) could procure an addendum or supplement from O'Connell to that effect*; and the court's questions were exactly why Mazzone sought the continuance to April 28 to have the doctor present. RP 71.

The court declined to impose the SSOSA on grounds O'Connell did not clearly state that McIntyre is amenable to treatment:

But he doesn't actually say that Mr. McIntyre is amenable to treatment, and I think it is safe to assume, given – given his qualifications, that it's because he does not know if it's – if it's so.

It may be so. But might not be. Very unclear.

RP 83-85.

On appeal, McIntyre argued the court abused its discretion and denied his due process right to present evidence when it refused to continue sentencing so he could present testimony from Dr. O'Connell

regarding amenability. Brief of Appellant (BOA) at 25-33; Reply Brief of Appellant (RB) at 1-7.

In disposing to this argument the court of appeals ruled:

Even if the court granted a continuance to allow Dr. O'Connell to attend the sentencing hearing or supplement his report, McIntyre cannot show the court would have reached a different result. The record shows the court reviewed the report and SSOSA evaluation Dr. O'Connell submitted before the sentencing hearing. The court concluded McIntyre was not amendable to treatment and presented a risk to the community.

Appendix at 6-7.

E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF McINTYRE'S REQUESTS TO CONTINUE SENTENCING TO PRESENT THE DOCTOR'S TESTIMONAY AND/OR AN ADDENDUM TO HIS REPORT DEPRIVED McINTYRE OF HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT RELEVANT EVIDENCE AT SENTENCING.

A defendant facing sentencing has a due process right to present relevant evidence in favor of his requested sentence. By denying the requested continuances, the court deprived McIntyre of his due process right to present relevant evidence. Kansas v. Marsh, 548 U.S. 163, 170, 126 S. Ct. 2516, 165 L. Ed. 2d 429 (2010); Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006); State v. Abd-Rahmaan, 154 Wn.2d 280, 289, 111 P.3d 1161 (2005); see also

unpublished decision in State v. Sam Nang You, noted at 179 Wn. App. 1028 (2014) (denial of request to continue sentencing 10 days so defense counsel could obtain documents to make a same criminal conduct argument constituted an abuse of discretion).²

The failure to grant a continuance may deprive a defendant of a fair trial and due process of law, within the circumstances of a particular case. State v. Downing, 151 Wn.2d 265, 274-275, 87 P.3d 1169 (2004). Additionally, a denial of a request for a continuance may violate a defendant's right to compulsory process if the denial prevents the defendant from presenting a witness material to his defense. State v. Eller, 84 Wn.2d 90, 95, 524 P.2d 242 (1974). Whether the denial of a continuance rises to the level of a constitutional violation requires a case-by-case inquiry. Id.; Unger v. Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575, 84 S. Ct. 841, 11 L. Ed.2d 921 (1964).

Whether a constitutional violation has occurred appears to depend on due diligence and materiality. Both were satisfied here. Defense counsel Mazzone acted diligently in taking over McIntyre's case following the prior attorney's unexpectedly abrupt departure just 11 days before the March 24th hearing. Mazzone contacted the doctor in advance

² McIntyre cites to the unpublished case under GR 14.1 as non-binding authority to be afforded such persuasive value as the Court deems fit.

of the hearing and learned the first date both he and the doctor were available was April 28th.

Mazzone also acted diligently in filing the defense sentencing memorandum 9 days in advance of the April 21st hearing. There was no way for him to know beforehand the court had unanswered questions about the evaluation.

The information Mazzone sought to present was material and bore on the defense sentencing request. Dr. O'Connell could have answered the court's questions about amenability and risk. By denying the requested continuances, the court prevented McIntyre from presenting relevant evidence in favor of his SSOSA request. As argued on appeal, the court's denial of his requests for a continuance prevented McIntyre from presenting his full story.

In rejecting his due process claim, the court of appeals essentially found McIntyre could not show the trial court would have reached a different result had he been allowed to supplement the doctor's report. This is not supported by the record, however.

In so finding, the appellate court focused on the trial court's own finding McIntyre was not amenable due to the sequence of events in the case – i.e. that McIntyre committed a new offense while on bail pending the

original charge. Significantly, however, the doctor was aware of this fact and still gauged McIntyre as a low to moderate risk. CP 161.

And the trial court's attempt to resolve – on its own – the question of amenability was prompted by the court's mistaken belief that the Dr. O'Connell had not found McIntyre amenable to treatment. This too was incorrect. In his report, O'Connell expressly stated McIntyre was treatable: “A lengthy prison sentence will likely limit if not completely foreclose opportunities to address what I suspect is a still-treatable traumatic brain injury while his brain still retains some plasticity.” CP 162 (emphasis added). Moreover, the fact O'Connell was willing to treat McIntyre implicitly suggested O'Connell found him amendable. RP 71. Regardless, defense counsel made an offer of proof that O'Connell could provide a supplemental report confirming his finding of amenability. RP 71.

And contrary to the court of appeals finding, the trial court indicated it would have imposed a SSOSA had there been an explicit finding of amenability by the doctor:

If I take a chance on Mr. McIntyre, notwithstanding the fact that it nowhere clearly says that he is amendable to treatment, then I suppose it's true. I do have a hammer over his head if he violates. But that won't occur until after there's another victim, is my fear.

On the other hand, if I don't, it may be that he would do substantial time in prison and come out and do it

again because he didn't get the same treatment he would have gotten in the community.

And I think everyone needs to understand that because that is the stark decision that I must make. If I thought it would help, I would grant the SSOSA, regardless of who was opposed, simply out of concern that the chances of another victim coming along, another person being victimized would be minimized thereby.

Emphasis added. Thus, McIntyre in fact showed the court would have been influenced in his favor by the additional evidence he sought to present.

As an aside, it would have been easy for the court to take the matter under advisement pending receipt of the supplemental report. And McIntyre was already incarcerated. There was therefore no need for such haste. The court's refusal to allow McIntyre to present this evidence deprived him of his due process right to present evidence. This court should accept review of this significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions.

F. CONCLUSION

Because this case involves a significant question of law under the state and federal constitutions, this Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(3).