FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/13/2019 11:34 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97139-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

MCINTYRE, JOSHUA DEAN

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, respondent, asks that discretionary review be denied.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A detailed statement of facts is set out in the Brief of Respondent at pages 1-7. Briefly, the defendant (petitioner), Joshua McIntyre, had sexual intercourse with a 15-year-old girl on two occasions between January and May, 2015. 1 CP 192-94. On October 29, 2015, an information was filed charging him with third degree rape of a child. 1 CP 310. He was released on condition that he have no contact with minors. 2 CP 385. Despite this requirement, on October 6, 2016, he took a 12-year-old girl to a motel room and had sexual intercourse with her. 1 CP 265-66.

As a result of these actions, the defendant was convicted at a stipulated trial of one count of second degree rape of a child and one count of third degree rape of a child. 1 CP 269-88. The stipulation specifically indicates that the State would object to imposition of a sentence under the Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative (SSOSA). 1 CP 280.

Prior to sentencing, the defendant obtained a report from a sex offender treatment provider, Dr. Michael O'Connell (Ph.D). 1

CP 139-63. The report referred to an automobile accident that had occurred in June, 2010 (over six years before). 1 CP 153. The defendant was experiencing "a variety of cognitive and emotional effects." Dr. O'Connell thought that these were "likely symptoms of an undiagnosed and untreated traumatic brain injury." He "suspect[ed]" that this injury was still treatable. There had not, however, been any thorough neurological workup. 1 CP 162.

Dr. O'Connell noted that the defendant would have to serve a prison sentence of more than two years before being released on a SSOSA. This was "far from ideal for therapeutic purposes." He was, however, "willing to provide treatment to [the defendant] or make a referral to another provider and coordinate a transfer of care." 1 CP 162.

At sentencing, the court pointed out that Dr. O'Connell never actually said that the defendant was amenable to treatment. 3 RP 65-66. Defense counsel claimed that this was "implicit" in the report. He also said that Dr. O'Connell had told him that the defendant was amenable. 3 RP 68-69. He said that if further information was necessary, "I'm sure that Dr. O'Connell could offer some supplement or some addendum or whatever." 3 RP 71.

The sentencing court explained in detail why it considered the defendant unsuitable for SSOSA. The defendant had lied to the victims, the police, and Dr. O'Connell. Even after he admitted the crimes, Dr. O'Connell only concluded that the defendant might be amenable to treatment. Given the defendant's violation of conditions of release, the risk of leaving the defendant in the community was too high. The court therefore imposed a standard range sentence. 3 RP 82-86.

III. ARGUMENT

THE APPLICATION OF ESTABLISHED LAW RELATING TO CONTINUANCES DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW BY THIS COURT.

The defendant claims that he was denied his due process right to present information at sentencing. As the defendant acknowledges, the existence of a constitutional violation requires a case-by-case inquiry. PRV at 8. The defendant does not criticize the legal test applied by the Court of Appeals. Rather, he claims that the court applied that test incorrectly. The application of an established legal standard does not constitute a "significant question of constitutional law warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

In any event, the analysis of the Court of Appeals was correct. The court determined that the defendant had failed to show either an abuse of discretion or prejudice. Slip op. at 6. With regard to abuse of discretion, the procedure for imposing a SSOSA sentence is set out in RCW 9.94A.670. Under that statute, an examiner is to "assess and report regarding the offender's amenability to treatment and relative risk to the community." RCW 9.94A.670(3)(b). The court may then order a second examination on its own motion or that of the States. RCW 9.94A.670(3)(c). On considering the reports, the court will then determine whether SSOSA is appropriate. RCW 9.94A.670(4).

This statute clearly contemplates that the examiner submit a written report be provided prior to sentencing. Only then can the court and the State determine whether a second examination is necessary. The statute would be undercut the failure of a report to address amenability to treatment provided an automatic basis for continuance.

Furthermore, the report in this case did address amenability to treatment. The examiner thought it "likely" that the defendant was experiencing symptoms of an undiagnosed traumatic brain injury. But there had not been a "thorough neurological and neuro-

psychological workup." The examiner "suspected" that the injury was still treatable — even though it had occurred over six years before, and sex offender treatment could not begin for another two years. He wanted to attempt treatment because "chances for treatment mitigating of underlying neurological problems may well have passed if he were to serve a much longer prison sentence." 1 CP 162. Without the "workup," however, the examiner did not know whether any brain injury existed at all, let alone whether it was still treatable. There was no reason for the sentencing court to believe that a short continuance would resolve this problem.

Nor has there been any showing of prejudice. The sentencing court did say at one point that it would grant the SSOSA "if I thought it would help." 3 RP 83. The court never said, however, that it would accept the examiner's conclusion in this regard. The court was aware of counsel's assertion that the examiner "said that he would be amenable." 3 RP 68. The court nevertheless explained why the defendant's pattern of lying and failure to obey court orders rendered community treatment an excessive risk. 1 RP 84-86. There is no reason to believe that further information would have changed the court's decision. This case does not present any issues that warrant review.

IV. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.